STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Anderson County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge
—————

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JUSTIN JAMAL WARNER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000930
—————

BRIEF OF PETITIONER
—————

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Feb 22 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding the trial court's failure to suppress the cell phone evidence where that evidence was obtained pursuant to an invalid search warrant issued by a magistrate in Anderson for phone records in New Jersey was saved by the "good faith" exception where the record showed the solicitor and police had a custom of using invalid search warrants because they believed phone companies would nonetheless honor them, since the state was not relying on binding appellate precedent in good faith given that custom, and the phone records evidence should therefore have been suppressed?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding petitioner was not entitled to a Neil v. Biggers hearing on the unduly suggestive nature of the identification by Probation Agent Nathan Goolsby, where Goolsby claimed he recognized petitioner from a surveillance video, even though the man in the video clip was wearing a hat and sunglasses, where Goolsby said he recognized petitioner from his "walk," and where the police asked Agent Goolsby if the man in the video was petitioner, since it was an abuse of discretion to deny petitioner an in camera hearing on identification where it occurred under these highly suggestive circumstances?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted by the Anderson County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder, attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 526 – 529. His case was called to trial on May 22, 2017, before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, and a jury. Bruce Byrholdt and Bruce Harvey represented petitioner. Catherine T. Huey was the Deputy Solicitor. R. 1.

On May 25, 2017, the jury found petitioner guilty on all three counts. R. 522, ll. 4-14. Judge McIntosh sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment for murder, twenty years for attempted armed robbery, and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 525, ll. 1-14.

Petitioner's convictions were affirmed in State v. Justin Jamal Warner, 430 S.C. 76, 842 S.E.2d 361 (Ct. App. 2020); App. 1-14. Petitioner sought rehearing in a petition filed on April 22, 2020. App. 15-24. Rehearing was denied in an order dated May 28, 2020. App. 25-26.

Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court on July 7, 2020. The state filed its return dated August 19, 2020. This Court granted certiorari in its order dated January 22, 2021.

This brief of petitioner follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the trial court's failure to suppress the cell phone evidence where that evidence was obtained pursuant to an invalid search warrant issued by a magistrate in Anderson for phone records in New Jersey was saved by the "good faith" exception where the record showed the solicitor and police had a custom of using invalid search warrants because they believed phone companies would nonetheless honor them, since the state was not relying on binding appellate precedent in good faith given that custom, and the phone records evidence should therefore have been suppressed

Introduction

This case involves the attempted robbery and murder of a woman working at the BP station she owned with her husband in Anderson County. A black male was seen inside the store on the surveillance tape, but he was wearing sunglasses and a hat. A probation agent, Nathan Goolsby, in Georgia was asked by the Anderson Police if this man was Warner, and Goolsby opined that it was. Goolsby told the jurors during petitioner's trial that he identified petitioner from his "walk." The judge refused to give petitioner a Neil v. Biggers identification hearing where the defense wanted to challenge the admissibility of this identification by Goolsby as unduly suggestive and subject to a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

In addition, the judge refused to suppress the cell phone evidence obtained as a result of an invalid search warrant issued by an Anderson County, South Carolina magistrate for corporate records from New Jersey. Despite the fact that the police and solicitor seemed satisfied with the search warrant being invalid because it served its purpose of getting them corporate cell phone records, the Court of Appeals held the "good faith" exception saved the state from suppression of

this evidence. However, as seen more fully infra, local law enforcement and the local solicitor were relying on the convenience of using invalid or illegal magistrate level search warrants to obtain these cell phone records, and not binding appellate precedent.

Relevant Facts

Defense counsel Harvey argued that the state illegally obtained petitioner's cell phone records in this case. Defense counsel correctly argued that a South Carolina magistrate judge did not have the authority or jurisdiction to issue a search warrant "directed to T-Mobile custodian of records in New Jersey." Counsel noted that the local authorities in Anderson, South Carolina did not follow the "particular procedure that must be followed in order to obtain out-of-state witnesses or documents. That's under the uniform act." R. 41, l. 1 – 43, l. 1.

The solicitor responded, "Your Honor, *we follow what the telephone companies require of us. We do this all the time. Even though they are out of state, they are almost always out of state. That is what they require of us. And my understanding is **as long as we say that you don't have to come, that it doesn't matter.***" R. 43, l. 2 – 47, l. 6. (emphasis added).

Defense counsel Harvey reiterated that the search warrant was issued by a local Anderson, South Carolina magistrate, the Honorable Judge Sharp, requesting petitioner's phone records for April 26, 2015–May 4, 2015 from the New Jersey Corporation. "The information can be emailed back or mailed directly to me through any contact information below. Thank you for the help -- for all the help in this matter." Defense counsel repeated that the cell phone records were illegally obtained because the search warrant was for documents outside of the judge's jurisdiction, and that the local judge did not have the authority to issue this warrant. R. 47, l. 13 – 48, l. 10.

The solicitor then incorrectly argued to the judge that the state did not even need a search warrant to obtain the cell phone records. The solicitor “passed up” *an unpublished opinion* to the judge, stating it cited “U.S v. Graham that says you don’t even need a warrant to get the cell site location information.” Tr. 48, l. 11 – 49, l. 11.

Defense counsel essentially noted that the solicitor was relying on an improper “precedent.” “[T]he South Carolina Supreme Court hasn’t adopted that in a published opinion, then it’s still up to Your Honor.” The judge responded: “Well, that is some indication where the thought process is at this stage. Well, you’re right about [it] being [an] unpublished opinion.” R. 52, ll. 2 – 7. The solicitor confirmed to the judge the state now advocated that “[w]e don’t need a warrant in the first place,” given the persuasive arguments that the search warrant involved in this case was invalid. R. 52, ll. 13-22.

Defense counsel Harvey disagreed with the judge’s new emphasis that records belonged to the company, and therefore that petitioner had no standing to challenge their disclosure. Counsel argued that, while there was a split of authority in state jurisdictions and the federal courts, petitioner did have a privacy interest in the records and noted that the Fourth Circuit case of United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016) (en banc) was pending before the United States Supreme Court at the time. R. 54, l. 5 – 58, l. 9.

Defense counsel also distinguished cases involving a privacy interest “in your records,” from the “traditional third-party doctrine.” Counsel referenced United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435 (1976) “which was the bank record case that established the third-party doctrine.” While jurisdictions were split, the modern cases or trend was to find a defendant had a privacy interest in digital records such as those involved in this case. “[I] think it’s time in the digital age that the third-party doctrine be vacated, that it really isn’t a doctrine that applies in the digital age. And

that is an exact quote from Justice Sotomayor in her decision that the third-party doctrine should be re-evaluated . . . You put your finger right on those two issues. And that’s precisely what it is in front of the U.S. Supreme Court in that trilogy of cases, and it’s sort of bubbling up through the system now.” R. 49, l. 22 – 56, l. 4.

When the court returned to the issue of the cell phone records being illegally obtained, it noted that the defense argued the magistrate’s jurisdiction was limited pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-13-140. The judge reasoned that if the cell phone company voluntarily complied “with whatever process they were doing,” that he did not think it made a difference if the search warrant was invalid. The judge rejected the defense argument that the state needed either a valid search warrant or a court order to obtain petitioner’s cell phone records. R. 101, l. 5 – 103, l. 13.

While this case was pending on appeal, the United States Supreme Court decided Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2217 (2018) “which held a person has a legitimate expectation of privacy in his cell phone records held by a third party. The Court therefore declined to extend the third-party doctrine of United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435, 443 (1976) due to the “unique nature of cell phone location records,” and it held the government could only obtain them by complying “with the Fourth Amendment.”

The Court of Appeals in this case correctly held Carpenter applied retroactively to petitioner’s benefit on direct appeal. State v. Justin Jamal Warner, Op. No. 5717 (filed April 8, 2020) at app. 11. The Court nonetheless held the actions of the police here in obtaining the cell phone records by an invalid or illegal search warrant was saved by the “good faith” exception of Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229 (2011). The Court of Appeals reasoned: “Although the officers exceeded the Fourth Amendment when they obtained Warner's cell phone records without a valid warrant, in light of Miller’s validity at the time of the search, their conduct was

not a deliberate or reckless transgression.” State v. Justin Jamal Warner, Op. No. 5717 (filed April 8, 2020) at app. 12.

Rehearing

Petitioner pointed out to the Court of Appeals on rehearing: “This Court may have overlooked the fact that law enforcement obtaining an illegal search warrant from a local Anderson County magistrate for records housed in New Jersey should not be found to be a ‘good faith’ exception to the exclusionary rule since obtaining a search warrant in this fashion was never legal, the solicitor knew that, and law enforcement was therefore not relying on that procedure being good law pursuant to existing case law at the time. This Court noted that the trial judge found the warrant was invalid, and that ‘the State does not challenge this ruling.’” State v. Justin Jamal Warner, Op. No. 5717 at app. 15.

Standard of Review

In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the standard of review is limited to the following:

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. The appellate court will reverse only when there is clear error.

State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). This deference does not bar appellate courts from conducting their own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010).

On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, the appellate court reviews questions of law *de novo*. State v. Bash, 419 S.C. 263, 268, 797 S.E.2d 721, 723–24 (2017); State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014). Where the police conduct a search in objective reasonable reliance on binding appellate precedent, the exclusionary rule does not apply. Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229 (2011). The existence of binding appellate precedent is a pure question of law and is reviewed *de novo*. See State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 93-96, 736 S.E.2d 263, 268-70 (2012).

Discussion

The conduct of the police and the solicitor here in using an Anderson County Magistrate to issue an invalid search warrant for records located in New Jersey because “*as long we say you don’t have to come, then it doesn’t matter*,” is the antithesis of acting in good faith and respecting the privacy rights of citizens in their cell phone records. App. 16. “We have always done it this [illegal] way,” works until a defendant, as in this case, correctly challenges the procedure. That the state here does not defend the *patently invalid search warrant* issued by a local Anderson magistrate in this case for New Jersey corporate records is telling. The Court of Appeals nonetheless concluded that “when the officer’s actions are taken in *objective good faith* or involve only *isolated simple negligence*, the benefit of deterrence is dwarfed by the ‘heavy toll’ the exclusionary system costs the justice system and society.” Citing Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. at 237-39. State v. Justin Jamal Warner, Op. No. 5717 at app. 11.

The actions of the police and the solicitor here were neither simple negligence nor were their actions undertaken in objective good faith. Just as the state did not ultimately deny that the search warrants were invalid, it was apparent from this record that the state only cared about its convenience in obtaining petitioner’s cell phone records, and the New Jersey company was

happy to comply with the invalid search warrant as long as no employee had to come and testify. R. 43, l. 2 – 47, l. 6. Thus, the actions of law enforcement officials were in reliance on their jaded custom and practice of obtaining an invalid search warrant expecting that the out-of-state, out-of-jurisdiction corporation would turn over the citizen’s cell phone records so long it could be done quietly with no expectation of traveling and testimony. Objective reasonable reliance on binding appellate precedent was never a consideration, and it only became an academic issue for lawyers and judges once the state in this case realized that defense counsel had called its hand on the invalid search warrant custom and practice. “Scrupulous adherence to governing law” simply was not a factor in this case. See Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 249 (2011).

Further, the arguments in the lower court and on appeal pertained to the Fourth Circuit case of United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016) (en banc), which was pending before the United States Supreme Court at the time of trial, and which had been abrogated by Carpenter v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 2206, 2223 (2018) while the present case was pending on appeal. Therefore, the only tool still remaining in the state toolbox was the “good faith exception.”¹

Seemingly, the state would concede the solicitor’s reliance on an apparent state court unpublished appellate opinion supplied to the trial court by the solicitor, which seemingly supporting its position regarding Graham, was highly improper. An unpublished opinion is not “binding appellate precedent,” or even precedent, and respectfully, any practicing lawyer in this state should know better than to cite an unpublished opinion to the court.

Further, United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435 (1976), cited by the Court of Appeals in its “good faith” analysis in this case, was not cited or relied upon by either party on appeal in this

¹ Earlier, in Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373 (2014), the Supreme Court had held that privacy interests are involved and at stake involving a person’s cell phone data.

case. Yet, as seen above, it was correctly distinguished in the trial court by defense counsel as not applying to the digital age of privacy legal issues. Miller involved a respondent “convicted of possessing an unregistered still, carrying on the business of a distiller without giving bond and with intent to defraud the Government of whiskey tax, possessing 175 gallons of whiskey upon which no taxes had been paid, and conspiring to defraud the United States of tax revenues” under several federal statutes. United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435, 436 (1976).

In Miller, the Supreme Court held that documents disclosed to the government pursuant to the challenged subpoena, “on their face,” were not the defendant’s “private papers” but were business records of the bank. “[B]anks are . . . not . . . neutrals in transactions involving negotiable instruments, but parties to the instruments with a substantial stake in their continued availability and acceptance. The records of respondent’s accounts, like ‘all of the records (which are required to be kept pursuant to the Bank Secrecy Act,) pertain to transactions to which the bank was itself a party.’” *Citing* California Bankers Assn. v. Shultz, 416 U.S. 21, 52 (1974). See United States v Miller, 425 U.S. at 440-441.

The bank records involved in United States v. Miller were materially different than the cell-site location information (CSLI) involved in United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016) (en banc), and in the present case. What law enforcement and the solicitor’s office did in this case with knowingly using invalid search warrants was antithesis of “good faith.” When their hand was called on the custom and practice of using invalid search warrants, the solicitor’s secondary position was that the state did not even need a search warrant to obtain petitioner’s cell phone information in this case.

The Fourth Circuit opinion in United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016) (en banc) was not “binding appellate precedent” in South Carolina for purposes of the “good faith

exception,” and Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229 (2011). See Toghill v. Comm., 289 Va. 220, 227, 768 S.E.2d 674, 677 (Va. 2015) (While state Supreme Court considers federal Fourth Circuit decisions as persuasive authority, such decisions are not binding precedent for decisions of the state Supreme Court). Citing Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364, 376 (1993) (Thomas, J., concurring) (“[N]either federal supremacy nor any other principle of federal law requires that a state court’s interpretation of federal law give way to a (lower) federal court’s interpretation.”) To not be subject to the exclusionary rule, the state had to show the search was conducted in objectively reasonable reliance on binding appellate precedent at the time. Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 231 (2011).

Despite all of the other problems with the state claiming any good faith exception in this case, its belated reliance on United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016) (en banc) for the good faith exception in Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 231 (2011) also fails. Further, no legal fiction of a reliance on Miller should be possible where it is apparent in this case from the solicitor’s own representations to the trial court that the illegal magistrate court search warrants were simply convenient for law enforcement purposes. That is conduct that needs to be deterred.

In that light, petitioner understands that exclusion is not a personal constitutional right, nor is it designed to redress the injury occasioned by an unconstitutional search. Stone v. Powell, 428 U.S. 465, 486 (1976). The rule’s sole purpose is to deter future Fourth Amendment violations. Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236-37 (2011) citing Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 141 n. 2 (2009); United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 921, n. 22 (1984); Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206, 217 (1960) (“calculated to prevent, not to repair”).

As to the exclusionary rule, the Court in Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 238 (2011)

noted:

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