STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Mar 19 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Anderson County  
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2020-000930

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

vs.

JUSTIN JAMAL WARNER,

PETITIONER.

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

State ID No. 4806

P. O. Box 11549

Columbia, South Carolina 29211

(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

The reasoning in *Carpenter* was a stark and dramatic break from over fifty years of Fourth Amendment precedent. *See, e.g., Id.* at 2223 (Kennedy, J., dissenting) (referring to the majority’s decision as a “stark departure from relevant Fourth Amendment precedents”); *id.* at 2224 (Kennedy, J., dissenting) (“In concluding that the Government engaged in a search, the Court unhinges Fourth Amendment doctrine from the property-based concepts that have long grounded the analytic framework that pertains in these cases. In doing so it draws an unprincipled and unworkable line between cell-site records on the one hand and financial and telephonic records on the other”); *id.* at 2235-36 (Thomas, J., dissenting) (“The Court concludes that, although the records are not *Carpenter*’s, the Government must get a warrant because *Carpenter* had a reasonable “expectation of privacy” in the location information that they reveal. Ante, at 2216 - 2217. I agree

with Justice KENNEDY, Justice ALITO, Justice GORSUCH, and every Court of Appeals to consider the question that this is not the best reading of our precedents”); *id.* at 2247 (Alito, J., dissenting) (“Treating an order to produce like an actual search, as today’s decision does, is revolutionary. It violates both the original understanding of the Fourth Amendment and more than a century of Supreme Court precedent”); *id.* at 2261 (Alito, J., dissenting) (“The desire to make a statement about privacy in the digital age does not justify the consequences that today’s decision is likely to produce”). In fact, the Court was so sharply divided in this 5-4 decision that each dissenter wrote a separate opinion.<sup>2</sup>

As the four *Carpenter* dissents make abundantly clear, prior Supreme Court precedent supported the conclusion that an individual did not have any reasonable expectation of privacy in information voluntarily disclosed to a third party, such as CSLI, even if the individual was unaware of how the third party would use the information. *See, e.g., United States v. Miller*, 425 U.S. 435, 443 (1976) (noting the Court had “held repeatedly that the Fourth Amendment does not prohibit the obtaining of information revealed to a third party and conveyed by him to Government authorities, even if the information is revealed on the assumption that it will be used only for a limited purpose and the confidence placed in the third party will not be betrayed”); *id.* at 442-43 (bank depositor did not have any legitimate expectation of privacy in financial information that he voluntarily conveyed to banks and that was exposed to their employees in the ordinary course of

---

<sup>2</sup> The *Carpenter* majority cautioned that its holding was “narrow,” 138 S.Ct. at 2217, and even the majority wrestled with how to apply this “new phenomenon” under the Fourth Amendment, *id.* at 2216 (noting that governmental acquisition of CSLI “does not fit neatly under existing precedents” and that cell-site records “implicate the third-party principle” because “the individual continuously reveals his location to his wireless carrier”); *id.* at 2214 (“[t]his sort of digital data—personal location information maintained by a third party—does not fit neatly under existing precedents.”). *But see id.* at 2236 (Kennedy, J., dissenting) (“The Court says its decision is a narrow one . . . But its interpretation of *Miller* and *Smith* will have dramatic consequences for law enforcement, courts, and society as a whole”).

business); *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1967) (“What a person knowingly exposes to the public, even in his own home or office, is not a subject of Fourth Amendment protection”); *Smith v. Maryland*, 442 U.S. 735, 742 (1979) (distinguishing the listening device employed in *Katz* and holding that telephone users generally had no subjective expectation of privacy in dialed telephone numbers), *superseded by statute*; *Hoffa v. United States*, 385 U.S. 293, 302 (1966) (applying same principle to confidential statements made in the presence of an informant); *SEC v. Jerry T. O'Brien, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 735, 743 (1984) (principle applied to financial and other records in the hands of third-party businesses); *United States v. White*, 401 U.S. 745, 752 (1971) (plurality opinion) (applying principle to electronic surveillance of conversations between defendant and informer, by means of radio transmitter concealed on the person of the informant); *Donaldson v. United States*, 400 U.S. 517, 522-23 (1971) (taxpayer was not entitled to intervene in proceeding to enforce summons for his employment records, where “what is sought here by the Internal Revenue Service ... is the production of Acme's records and not the records of the taxpayer”). *Cf. State v. King*, 412 S.C. 403, 419, 772 S.E.2d 189, 197 (Ct.App. 2015), *aff'd as modified*, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), *overruled on other grds, State v. Burdette*, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). Thus, by seeking and securing a warrant, law enforcement went beyond what they were required to do at the time.

Further, most American courts did not routinely grant similar protection to data revealing a person’s location that was held by a third party, such as CSLI, before the *Carpenter* opinion. Indeed, as late as 2012, “no circuit court had yet held the Fourth Amendment applicable to CSLI data.” *United States v. Elmore*, 1068, 1078 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2019) (collecting cases) (emphasis added); *United States v. Graham*, 824 F.3d 421 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2016) (en banc) (holding the Government did not violate the defendants’ Fourth Amendment rights in obtaining historical cell-site location

information from their cell phone provider without a warrant because defendants' had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the historical location information, as they voluntarily conveyed such information to the cell phone provider), *overruled, Carpenter v. United States*, 138 S.Ct. 2206 (2018). *See also* cases cited in Final Brief of Appellant, pp. 9-14.

Additionally, neither this Court nor the South Carolina Supreme Court had held that an individual had a reasonable expectation of privacy in CSLI or that law enforcement had to comply with the provisions of the Uniform Act to Secure the Attendance of Witnesses from Without a State in Criminal Proceedings to obtain CSLI. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals had issued two unpublished opinions that followed the Fourth Circuit's reasoning in *Graham*. *See State v. Drayton*, 411 S.C. 533, 769 S.E.2d 254 (Ct.App. 2015), *vacated in part, affirmed in result*, 415 S.C. 43, 780 S.E.2d 902 (2015) (*Drayton II*); *State v. Wallace*, 2016-UP-344, 2016 WL 3595792, at \*1 (Ct. App., June 29, 2016) (*per curiam*) (unpublished) (“[W]e note that although our supreme court has not directly addressed the issue of whether the warrantless procurement of cell-site location data violates the Fourth Amendment, the federal appellate courts, including a recent en banc decision from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, have uniformly found such police action does not violate the Fourth Amendment”) (citing *Graham* with approval).

There is likewise no merit to Petitioner's contention that this Court should reverse the trial judge's ruling because he erroneously relied on the Court of Appeals' decision in *Drayton I*. Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR, states that “Memorandum opinions and unpublished orders have no precedential value and should not be cited except in proceedings in which they are directly involved.” Yet, Petitioner certainly was not prejudiced by the trial judge's reliance on *Drayton*, since the Court of Appeals' decision in that case merely applied the well-settled Fourth Amendment principles just discussed to the facts before it. *See Drayton*, 411 S.C. at 547, 769

S.E.2d at 262 (“Under our analysis of the cases interpreting the United States Fourth Amendment, we find Drayton did not have a legitimate expectation of privacy in his historical cell site location records”). Also, this analysis tracked the overwhelming majority of cases from other jurisdictions to have considered the issue, including the district court decision in *Graham*. See *id.* at 547-48, 769 S.E.2d at 262. See also *Visual Graphics Leasing Corp. v. Lucia*, 311 S.C. 484, 489, 429 S.E.2d 839, 841 (Ct. App. 1993) (“[a]n error is not reversible unless it is material and prejudicial to the substantial rights of the appellant”); *McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987) (“[W]hatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter”).

Also, in *Drayton II*, this Court did not disagree with the Court of Appeals’ reasoning and conclude that the defendant had a legitimate expectation of privacy in CSLI. Rather, this Court concluded that it was unnecessary for the Court of Appeals to address the novel issue because “the affidavits in support of the warrants established probable cause for the search” for the CSLI and because any error in denying the motion to suppress was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Drayton II*, 415 S.C. at 45, 780 S.E.2d at 903.

Indeed, Petitioner candidly admitted at trial that the circuit courts of appeal were split on the question of whether an individual had a reasonable expectation of privacy in CSLI, so that the prosecution needed a warrant to obtain these records, and that binding precedent in this Circuit, the Fourth Circuit’s decision in *Graham*, was contrary to his position. Therefore, there is no plausible merit to Petitioner’s *ad hominem* accusation that the Anderson County Sheriff’s Department and the Tenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office engaged in “a practice of deliberate conduct ... in disregard of citizen's Fourth Amendment rights” and that claim does not justify reversal of the trial judge’s ruling.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals properly applied the United States Supreme Court’s

good faith exception to the exclusionary rule. The Supreme Court adopted the exclusionary rule as a judicially-created remedy to effectuate the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution. See *Weeks v. United States*, 232 U.S. 383, 393-394 (1914); see also *United States v. Calandra*, 414 U.S. 338, 347 (1974) (“The exclusionary rule was adopted to effectuate the Fourth Amendment right of all citizens ‘to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizure’”). Importantly though, adoption of the exclusionary rule did *not* create a personal constitutional right to the exclusion of evidence, and the rule itself was *not* designed to redress the injury caused by an unconstitutional search or seizure. *Davis v. United States*, 564 U.S. 229, 236 (2011); see also *Stone v. Powell*, 428 U.S. 465, 486 (1976) (“[T]he [exclusionary] rule is not a personal constitutional right. It is not calculated to redress the injury to the privacy of the victim of the search or seizure”). Instead, the exclusionary rule was adopted and solely exists to deter *future* Fourth Amendment violations. *Davis*, 564 U.S. at 236-37 (citing *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 909, 921 n.22 (1984)); see also *Elkins v. United States*, 364 U.S. 206, 217 (1960) (“The [exclusionary] rule is calculated to prevent, not to repair”).

In *Leon*, the Supreme Court rejected the contention that the exclusionary rule should be applied to evidence “obtained by officers acting in reasonable reliance on a search warrant issued by a detached and neutral magistrate but ultimately found to be unsupported by probable cause.” *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 900. Instead, the Court adopted a “good faith” exception to the exclusionary rule and cautioned that the exclusion of evidence should only “rarely” occur in cases where officers reasonably relied upon subsequently-invalidated search warrants. *Id.* at 926.

The Court explained that suppression of evidence based on a subsequently-invalidated search warrant was *only* appropriate in four limited situations: (1) where the affiant misled the

issuing judge by including false or misleading information in the search warrant affidavit; (2) where the issuing judge wholly abandoned his neutral and detached judicial role; (3) where the search warrant affidavit was “so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable[;]” and (4) when a search warrant was so facially deficient in some technical respect the officer executing the warrant could not reasonably have presumed it to be valid. *Id.* at 923 (citations omitted). Further, the Supreme Court has admonished that the exclusionary rule is to be a “last resort” and not a “first impulse.” *Hudson v. Michigan*, 547 U.S. 586, 591 (2006). *See also Messerschmidt v. Millender*, 132 S.Ct. 1235, 1245 (2012) (“Where the alleged Fourth Amendment violation involves a search or seizure pursuant to a warrant, the fact that a neutral magistrate has issued a warrant is the clearest indication that the officers acted in an objectively reasonable manner or, as we have sometimes put it, in ‘objective good faith’”) (quoting *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 922-23); *Davis*, 564 U.S. at 236-37 (the exclusionary rule’s “sole purpose ... is to deter future Fourth Amendment violations”).

While *Carpenter* prohibits the warrantless seizure of CSLI from the date of the opinion forward, this case is not about what the State can do post-*Carpenter*. Instead, the question is whether the State acted in good faith considering the status of the law when it seized Petitioner’s CSLI in 2015, and the State submits it did. Specifically, the State submits that the Fourth Circuit’s decision in *Chavez* and a number of other cases support the finding that the officers in this case acted in objectively good faith reliance on the warrant. *See Chavez*, 894 F.3d at 608. *See also, e.g., United States v. Zodiates*, 901 F.3d 137, 143 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2018) (acknowledging the *Carpenter* decision issued during the pendency of that appeal, but holding that “when the Government “act[s] with an objectively reasonable good-faith belief that their conduct is lawful, the exclusionary rule does not apply”); *United States v. Goldstein*, 914 F.3d 200, 203–07 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir.

2019); *United States v. Beverly*, 943 F.3d 225, 234 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2019) (“We hold that the [*Illinois v. Krull*, 480 U.S. 340, 349-50 (1987)] strand of the good-faith exception properly applies to the [CSLI at issue], since it was obtained pursuant to a pre-*Carpenter* warrantless order authorized by statute”); *United States v. Carpenter*, 926 F.3d 313, 317-18 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2019) (“*Carpenter II*”) (on remand from Supreme Court, finding that government agents reasonably relied on the SCA at the time they acquired certain CSLI), *sentence vacated on other grds and case remanded*, 788 Fed.Appx. 364 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir., Dec. 19, 2019); *Pembrook*, 876 F.3d at 823 (applying the good-faith exception to CSLI obtained under the SCA); *United States v. Curtis*, 901 F.3d 846, 847-49 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2018) (same); *United States v. Davis*, 785 F.3d 498, 511, 518 n. 20 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2015) (same); *United States v. Joyner*, 899 F.3d 1199, 1204-05 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2018) (same). *See also United States v. Parrish*, 942 F.3d 289, 293 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2019) (“[C]ourts will not exclude evidence from trial that was seized ‘by officers reasonably relying on a warrant issued by a detached and neutral magistrate’”) (quoting *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 913); *United States v. Korte*, 918 F.3d 750, 758 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2019); *State v. Burke*, 2019-Ohio-1951, ¶¶ 31-33, 2019 WL 2172718, \*5 (Oh. Ct. App. 2019), *appeal not allowed*, 157 Ohio St.3d 140, 2019-Ohio-3731, ¶¶ 31-33, 6, 131 N.E.3d 75 (2019) (applying good-faith exception to CSLI acquired by grand jury subpoena); *Reed v. Commonwealth*, 71 Va.App. 164, 834 S.E.2d 505, 510–12 (2019).<sup>3</sup>

Finally, as an additional sustaining ground, Respondent submits that the Court should deny certiorari because any error in denying the motion to suppress was harmless beyond a reasonable

---

<sup>3</sup> Respondent notes that on February 2, 2021, this Court heard oral arguments in another case in which a panel of the Court of Appeals held that the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applied to the State’s pre-*Carpenter* acquisition of CSLI and the Court dismissed certiorari as improvidently granted in that case on March 10, 2021. *See State v. Rhodes*, 2021-MO-001 (S.C. S.Ct., Mar. 10, 2021).

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